VACCINES

National Strategic Plan

for the United States | 2021-2025





The United States will be a place where vaccine-preventable diseases are eliminated through safe and effective vaccination over the lifespan.

Acknowledgments: The Vaccines National Strategic Plan: 2021–2025 (Vaccine Plan) was developed through a robust process that included gathering feedback from stakeholders across health care and related fields. Partners throughout the federal government, as well as hundreds of nonfederal stakeholders, including state, tribal, territorial, and local governments, researchers, health plans and providers, community groups, and national and local organizations, have helped shape the goals, objectives, and strategies contained in the Vaccine Plan. The Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health (OASH) and its Office of Infectious Disease and HIV/AIDS Policy (OIDP) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, sincerely thank all those who contributed to developing the Vaccine Plan.

Additional information regarding the Vaccine Plan and associated activities may be accessed at <u>hhs.gov/vaccines</u>.

Suggested citation: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2021. *Vaccines National Strategic Plan* 2021–2025. Washington, DC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary1
I. Introduction
A. The Need for the Vaccine Plan4
B. Progress Since the 2010 Vaccine National Plan and Challenges and Opportunities6
C. Scope, Approach and Development of the Vaccine Plan
II. Vaccines National Strategic Plan
A. Vision
B. Goals
C. Objectives and Strategies
III. Implementation and Accountability
A. Implementation
B. Accountability Including Indicators to Measure Progress
Appendix A: Process/Metholdology for Developing and Adopting the Vaccine Plan
Appendix B: Federal Steering Committee and Staff
Appendix C: Acronyms
Appendix D: References

Tables, Figures, and Boxes

Tables

Table 1.	Number of Reported Cases of Measles, 2015–2020, United States	9
Table 2.	Definitions Included in the Vaccine Plan	15
Table 3.	Indicators and Targets for the Vaccines Strategic National Plan 2021–2025	26
Table A.1.	Federal Departments and Agencies Represented in the Interagency Working Group	27
Table A.2.	Organizations That Submitted Comments	28
Table A.3.	Number of Commenters Who Directly Addressed Each of the Five Proposed Goals	29
Table A.4.	Stakeholder Categories Represented in Individual and Group Interviews	30

Figures

Figure 1. Exemptions permitted to school and child-care immunization requirements, United States, June 2019		9
Boxes		
Box 1.	A Snapshot of Vaccination Coverage in the United States	.10

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Although significant progress against vaccine-preventable diseases has been made in the United States, there remain significant gaps in vaccination coverage that contribute to preventable morbidity and mortality each year. The Vaccines National Strategic Plan 2021-2025 (Vaccine Plan) provides a vision for the U.S. vaccine and immunization enterprise for the next 5 years as the nation seeks to eliminate vaccine-preventable diseases.

The Vaccine Plan articulates a comprehensive strategy to promote vaccines and vaccination in the areas of research and development, vaccine safety monitoring, public knowledge and confidence, access and use across the lifespan, and global cooperation. The Vaccine Plan builds on previous plans and guides vaccine policy to address pressing issues such as vaccine hesitancy and disparities in vaccination coverage.

The Vaccine Plan establishes the following vision for the nation:

The United States will be a place where vaccine-preventable diseases are eliminated through safe and effective vaccination over the lifespan.

This vision is accompanied by five high-level goals, which frame the Plan's more specific objectives. Under each objective is a set of strategies that further articulate the actions that are recommended to accomplish each objective. The order of goals and objectives does not indicate any prioritization, and many are intertwined. In the goals and objectives, the terms routinely used or routinely recommended include vaccines that are used in routine non-outbreak settings, including those that are recommended for general populations and for specific or at-risk populations. The five goals and their associated objectives are as follows:



Goal 1: Foster innovation in vaccine development and related technologies

- 1.1 Support the development of innovative, safe, and effective vaccines to prevent infectious diseases of public health significance
- 1.2 Support the development and uptake of technologies to improve vaccine manufacturing, storage, distribution, and delivery mechanisms



Goal 2: Maintain the highest levels of vaccine safety

- Minimize preventable vaccine-related adverse events 2.1
- 2.2 Improve the timely detection and assessment of vaccine safety signals to inform public health policy and clinical practice
- 2.3 Increase awareness, understanding, and usability of the vaccine safety system for providers, policymakers, and the public



Goal 3: Increase knowledge of and confidence in routinely recommended vaccines

- 3.1 Counter vaccine mis- and disinformation and increase public support for the individual and societal benefits of vaccination
- 3.2 Increase provider capacity to promote knowledge of the benefits of immunization and increased vaccine acceptance by the public
- 3.3 Ensure key decision- and policymakers receive accurate and timely information on vaccines and strategies to promote vaccine uptake
- 3.4 Reduce disparities and inequities in vaccine confidence and acceptance



Goal 4: Increase access to and use of all routinely recommended vaccines

- 4.1 Increase the availability of vaccines in a variety of settings
- 4.2 Reduce disparities and inequities in access to and use of routinely recommended vaccines across the lifespan
- 4.3 Strengthen data infrastructure, including Immunization Information Systems, to track vaccine coverage and conduct surveillance of vaccine-preventable diseases
- 4.4 Reduce financial and systems barriers for health care providers to facilitate delivery of routinely recommended vaccines
- 4.5 Reduce financial and systems barriers for the public to facilitate access to routinely recommended vaccines
- 4.6 Promote public-private partnerships to increase the capacity of the health system to deliver vaccines for routine use during outbreaks



Goal 5: Protect the health of the nation by supporting global immunization efforts

- 5.1 Support vaccine research and development to address vaccine-preventable diseases of global public health importance
- 5.2 Support global partners in efforts to combat vaccine misinformation, disinformation, and hesitancy worldwide
- 5.3 Support global partners to strengthen immunization systems
- 5.4 Increase coordination of global immunization efforts across federal agencies and with global partners

The Vaccine Plan also includes indicators for measuring progress and quantitative targets for each indicator. There are 10 core indicators, each with associated quantitative targets; additional targets specific to reducing disparities in vaccine coverage and promoting health equity will be included in the implementation of the Vaccine Plan. Although focused on the years 2021–2025, the Plan includes both 5- and 10-year targets that align with *Healthy People 2030*. To ensure implementation and accountability, a Federal Implementation Plan will be released after the release of the Vaccine Plan to document the specific actions that federal partners will take to achieve its goals and objectives.

The vision, goals, objectives, and other components of the Vaccine Plan were developed and approved by the federal Interagency Vaccine Working Group, composed of subject matter experts from across the federal government, with substantial input from public comment from numerous and varied stakeholders and the public, and recommendations from the National Vaccine Advisory Committee to the Assistant Secretary for

Health in his role as the Director of the National Vaccine Program. The Vaccine Plan is aligned with other national strategic plans including those for viral hepatitis, HIV, and sexually transmitted infections, all of which have been released in late 2020 or are expected to be released in early 2021.

The Vaccine Plan is intended to be implemented by a broad mix of stakeholders at all levels and across many sectors, both public and private. Implementation includes federal partners in collaboration with other governmental and non-governmental partners and stakeholders including those working in public health, health care, government, community-based organizations, research, manufacturing, and academia. The Vaccine Plan serves as a roadmap for all stakeholders at all levels to guide development of policies, initiatives, and actions to reduce the burden of and work toward eliminating vaccine-preventable diseases. Stakeholders are encouraged to customize their implementation of the plan for the communities they serve.

I. INTRODUCTION

A strategic national plan is needed to sustain and renew progress, address persistent and newly identified gaps, and proactively respond to the changing vaccine landscape. The Vaccines National Strategic Plan 2021–2025 (Vaccine Plan) is intended to provide a roadmap for federal and non-federal partners and stakeholders for strengthening vaccination infrastructure across public and private sectors, including improving immunization and health equity. Its aim is to prevent vaccine-preventable diseases (VPDs) and maintain the highest levels of vaccine safety in the United States.

A. The Need for the Vaccine Plan

1. THE VACCINE AND IMMUNIZATION LANDSCAPE

Since the release of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan, vaccination rates have remained above 90% for the majority of recommended pediatric vaccines in the United States,^{1,2} reducing the burden and economic impact of the diseases they prevent. Influenza vaccination coverage in children is a notable exception, with rates of only 64% during the 2019–2020 season.³ For children born between 1994 and 2013, childhood vaccinations averted 322 million illnesses, prevented 732,000 premature deaths from VPDs, and saved \$1.38 trillion in costs to society.⁴ Within a decade following introduction of the human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine in 2006, prevalence of vaccine-preventable HPV infections decreased by 86% among females aged 14–19 years and by 71% among those aged 20–24 years.⁵ However, despite this impact, HPV vaccination rates remain low among adolescents. In 2019, only 54% of adolescents completed the HPV vaccination series.⁶

In contrast, adult vaccination rates remain low overall⁷ and continue to lag well behind those for children. For instance, during the 2019–2020 season, influenza vaccination coverage among adults was only 48%.³ The annual burden of VPDs is particularly high among adults, with approximately 1 million cases of herpes zoster each year,⁸ more than 3,000 cases of acute hepatitis B infections,⁹ and about 40,000 cases and 4,000 deaths from invasive pneumococcal disease.¹⁰ Large and prolonged outbreaks of hepatitis A in multiple states in 2016–2018 among people experiencing homelessness highlight the need to redouble efforts to protect at-risk populations from VPDs.¹¹ Although influenza and pertussis vaccines are safe during pregnancy^{12,13} and can reduce the risk for severe complications of these illnesses in pregnant women and infants who are too young to be vaccinated, only about one-third of pregnant women received both recommended vaccines in 2018.¹⁴ To address the persistently low vaccination coverage rates among adults, the National Vaccine Advisory Committee (NVAC) made recommendations to HHS on the Standards for Adult Immunization Practices in 2014,¹⁵ and HHS released the National Adult Immunization Plan in 2016, which is discussed in Section A.2.¹⁶

Disparities in vaccination coverage by race, ethnicity, gender, geography, and other demographic characteristics reflect underlying health inequities in the United States that contribute to the gaps in vaccination efforts and rates. Racism, employment, housing, education, and transportation, among other social determinants of health, contribute to these health inequities. Immunization rates are lower among children living in poverty, Medicaid-enrolled children, and Black children.¹⁷ Among adults, vaccination coverage is generally lower among non-Hispanic Blacks, Hispanics, and non-Hispanic Asians compared to non-Hispanic whites.¹⁸

The United States is vulnerable to epidemic and emerging infectious diseases at home and abroad. This vulnerability is due, in part, to an increasingly globalized world with urbanization in low- and middle-income countries, climate change, political instability, and other forces. The United States was a part of the global public health response to outbreaks of infections such as the Ebola virus outbreaks in Africa in 2014 and 2018, the Zika virus outbreaks in the Americas in 2015–2016, the H1N1 influenza pandemic in 2009–2010, the emergence of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in China in 2003, and the ongoing HIV global

epidemic since 1981. The most dramatic recent development is the emergence of SARS coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in 2019 and the global 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic it has caused.

In recent years, notable changes have been observed in the vaccination landscape. Growing anti-vaccine sentiment threatens to erode progress that has been made by vaccines. In the United States, communities with widespread mistrust of vaccines and vaccination programs have resulted in outbreaks of preventable diseases, particularly among children.^{19,20} The development of COVID-19 vaccines has prompted open discussions in health care and public health communities and in public forums on the importance of ensuring the public's confidence in vaccine safety and effectiveness. Developing and making available a safe and effective vaccine is not enough, particularly in minority and disenfranchised communities.

In addition, there have been precipitous declines in numbers of vaccines routinely administered to children and adults in the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic.^{21,22,23} These declines have put further stress on the health care and public health systems in the United States and may lead to outbreaks of diseases that vaccines would prevent. The rapid development and distribution of the COVID-19 vaccine also presents and will continue to present many lessons to be incorporated into the strategies to reach the Vaccine Plan's goals.

2. PREVIOUS VACCINE PLANS

The 2010 National Vaccine Plan provided a vision for the United States for the decade that began in 2010. It articulated a comprehensive strategy to improve and enhance the use of vaccines in the United States. It was organized around five overarching and interconnected goals to mobilize diverse stakeholders to prevent VPDs and improve public health through vaccination: (1) develop new and improved vaccines; (2) enhance the vaccine safety system; (3) support communications to enhance vaccine decision-making; (4) ensure a stable supply of, access to, and better use of recommended vaccines; and (5) increase global prevention of death and disease through safe and effective vaccination. The 2010 National Vaccine Plan expanded these goals with 34 supporting objectives and nearly 150 strategies.²⁴ In 2012, the National Vaccine Implementation Plan was released.²⁵ It described the specific activities that federal partners committed to conduct in support of the priorities for the first 5 years of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan. Two separate mid-course reviews, conducted by the National Vaccine Program Office²⁶ and informed by recommendations to HHS by the National Vaccine Plan, identified areas of focus for the remaining years covered by it, and suggested additional indicators to measure progress.

In 2016, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) released a separate National Adult Immunization Plan that focused on priorities and strategies to improve immunization rates for adults in the United States.²⁸ The National Adult Immunization Plan set forth four goals, 15 objectives, and 78 strategies and included indicators that could be used to monitor progress. It was accompanied by an implementation guide that identified implementation priorities for the four goals and suggested potential activities that stakeholders could undertake to implement the Vaccine Plan.¹⁶

3. UPDATES IN THE VACCINE PLAN

This Vaccine Plan covers the same five broad goal areas as the 2010 National Vaccine Plan but differs from the previous plan in three areas: (1) it combines the scopes of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan, which focused primarily on childhood vaccinations, and the 2016 National Adult Immunization Plan into a single strategic document across the lifespan; (2) it has a 5-year time frame, to provide more flexibility for a mid-course correction in 5 years given the rapid evolution of the immunization landscape; and (3) it contains indicator measures with 5- and 10-year quantitative targets as benchmarks for the duration of the Vaccine Plan and the longer term.

B. Progress Since the 2010 Vaccine National Plan and Challenges and Opportunities

This section reviews innovations and progress that have been made in the five major goals in the 2010 National Vaccine Plan: vaccine development, safety, confidence, access and use, and global immunization. It also discusses challenges and opportunities in each goal area.

1. VACCINE RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT, AND INNOVATION

Significant progress has been made in knowledge of the host immune response, development of new vaccines and new indications for vaccines already in use, and innovations in vaccine delivery mechanisms since the release of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan. Improved understanding of the pathogen-host interaction and the human immune system have led to innovations in vaccine design (e.g., advances in nucleic acid vaccine development), novel antigen delivery platforms (e.g., liposomes, nanoparticles, and novel protein expression systems such as plant-based systems), and promising vaccine delivery mechanisms (e.g., microneedle patch).²⁹ Other advances include structure-based vaccine design; machine-learning to identify and design antigens; novel adjuvants; and alternative routes of vaccine administration (e.g., transdermal).

Since the release of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan, several new vaccines have been licensed by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and are recommended by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) for routine use in the United States, including the 9-valent HPV, serogroup B meningococcal, recombinant zoster, and hexavalent combination (diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, poliomyelitis, hepatitis B, and *Haemophilus influenzae* type b) vaccines.³⁰ New vaccines of public health importance have also been licensed (e.g., cholera,³¹ dengue disease,³² and Ebola virus disease³³), and several vaccines are currently in development, including universal influenza vaccines and vaccines for group B streptococcus,³⁴ respiratory syncytial virus,³⁵ and malaria.³⁶ The development of vaccines to prevent sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) are covered in the <u>STI National Strategic Plan</u>, which was released in December 2020, and the <u>HIV National Strategic Plan</u>, which is expected to be released in early 2021.

However, there remains a significant need for new and improved vaccines and vaccination strategies, such as the development of new vaccines against vector-borne diseases, a more broadly protective (universal) influenza vaccine, and improved strategies for maternal immunization. Developing new vaccines includes modernizing the domestic vaccine enterprise to be highly responsive, flexible, and scalable; improving capacity for agile and rapid responses to emerging influenza threats; and developing more broadly protective vaccines.³⁷

Vaccine development and commercialization are complex, requiring large, expensive clinical trials to generate data pertaining to safety and effectiveness. The initial capital investments needed to develop and manufacture vaccines can range from \$700 million to more than \$1 billion, with uncertain return on investment.³⁸ Financial incentives and other market forces (e.g., potential for significant, predictable demand; balancing development costs and pricing) help drive improvements in existing vaccines for diseases such as influenza and pertussis. However, additional incentives are needed to support vaccine development for diseases such as tuberculosis and malaria because in the United States target populations for these vaccines are small in numbers. With the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic, an alliance of government, academia, and the private sector³⁹ accelerated the timeline for development, manufacture, and distribution of COVID-19 vaccines by conducting critical steps simultaneously where possible, and working collaboratively to overcome technical, administrative, and financial challenges.

Despite enormous costs associated with the development and distribution of COVID-19 vaccines, they represent substantial social and economic returns on investment. Similarly, vaccines in routine use yield proven and substantial social and economic returns by preventing disease, protecting people and communities, and saving health care costs.⁴⁰ There is a need for continued support both for developing new

vaccines and improving existing vaccines that align incentives with broader societal needs and objectives. It is essential that a pipeline of vaccine candidates with innovative designs, delivery platforms and technologies, and administration routes be maintained.

2. VACCINE SAFETY

The United States has an extensive safety monitoring system that ensures the highest level of vaccine safety.⁴¹ Vaccine-related adverse events, particularly serious events, are exceedingly rare.^{42,43} The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is the regulatory authority with oversight of the safety, effectiveness, and quality of vaccines that are used in the United States. Vaccine development programs include studies conducted by manufacturers according to FDA standards to evaluate safety and effectiveness in the target population. Clinical trials are conducted according to plans that reflect FDA's expertise in clinical trial design. FDA evaluates the results of clinical trials conducted by vaccine manufacturers and other information to determine whether the safety and efficacy of the vaccine have been demonstrated for licensure. After a vaccine is licensed and recommended for use, safety monitoring continues with post-licensure studies and ongoing data collection and analysis conducted by vaccine safety surveillance.

Several systematic vaccine safety monitoring programs are in place that continue to evolve and improve over time. The Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS) is a passive data collection system that allows the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and FDA to monitor safety signals associated with vaccines and conduct safety evaluations.⁴⁴ Anyone can report an adverse event to VAERS. Health care providers are required to report certain adverse events, and vaccine manufacturers are required to report all adverse events that come to their attention to VAERS. Since 1990, VAERS has served as a national early warning system for vaccine safety. CDC and FDA have continued to advance VAERS' capability by updating the VAERS reporting form, improving electronic reporting, and transitioning vaccine manufacturers to using standardized messages through electronic data exchange.

The Vaccine Safety Datalink (VSD) is a collaboration between CDC and a network of nine managed care organizations with a patient base of nearly 10 million that monitors adverse events associated with vaccines.⁴⁵ Through this collaboration, studies on rare and serious adverse events associated with vaccine use can be conducted. VSD data are updated weekly, which allows for the detection of vaccine-associated adverse events, particularly on the safety of newly introduced vaccines and vaccines given to women during pregnancy, to inform the public in near real time. The ability to incorporate new data sources and develop and apply innovative analytic methods is critical to continued progress. Over the past decade, VSD has pioneered advanced analytic methods, such as machine learning, applied to large integrated datasets to rapidly detect vaccine safety signals for further investigation.⁴⁶

The Sentinel Initiative is an extensive public-private collaborative that allows the FDA to monitor the safety of its licensed medical products, including vaccines, to detect potential safety signals.^{47,48} Taking advantage of advances in analytic methods with large integrated datasets over the past decade, the sentinel program has increasingly become more effective including through detecting potential vaccine safety signals.⁴⁸ In addition, other large-linked database monitoring systems from the Department of Defense and Veterans Administration are in place to monitor vaccine safety.

For monitoring COVID-19 vaccine safety, in addition to the systems above, CDC added the V-safe active vaccine health checker, a smart phone-based active monitoring program for COVID-19 vaccine recipients.

To strengthen confidence in vaccines by health care providers, policymakers, and the public, it is important to develop effective and transparent communication strategies on vaccine safety, from clinical trials to post-licensure safety monitoring to post-marketing surveillance. ⁴⁹ Mechanisms to further strengthen vaccine safety monitoring systems include continuing to reduce the vaccine safety reporting burden on health care providers, identifying new data sources including those that allow for stratification of data by race and ethnicity, and improving analytic methodologies to increase sensitivity of detecting potential safety signals.

3. VACCINE KNOWLEDGE, CONFIDENCE, AND ACCEPTANCE

The World Health Organization (WHO) considers vaccine hesitancy to be one of the 10 most critical public health challenges the world currently faces.^{50,51} The spread of non-scientific and false information by individuals who oppose vaccines is eroding vaccine confidence, vaccine acceptance, and progress toward reducing the burden of VPDs in the United States and globally.^{52,53} Since the release of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan, in 2015, NVAC issued recommendations to HHS in a report on National Vaccine Confidence, *Assessing the State of Vaccine Confidence in the United States*, which provided advice on setting the groundwork to approach this issue and helped inform the confidence-related recommendations in this Vaccine Plan. A follow-up to the 2015 report is currently in development by NVAC. As awareness of the threat posed by vaccine hesitancy has grown, a range of strategies to improve vaccine confidence and acceptance has been implemented, but challenges remain.

Despite the unequivocal benefit of vaccines in preventing disease and promoting healthy individuals and communities, a minority of the population opposes routine use of vaccines and has grown and become more vocal in recent years. Amplified by social media and other channels disseminating deliberately misleading and false information, antagonism to vaccines threatens to reverse the gains that have been made over decades. Some social media outlets are rejecting baseless claims about vaccines and removing false content on their platforms,⁵¹ but vaccine advocates are calling for more aggressive countermeasures. Creative and impactful communication strategies are needed to inform the public and increase vaccine confidence and address vaccine hesitancy.⁵⁴

Health care providers have repeatedly been identified as the most trusted sources of information regarding vaccines for parents and guardians of children and for adults.^{55,56} Although resources and tools are available to guide vaccination discussions,^{57,58} some health care providers feel ill-equipped to engage in sometimes difficult and time-consuming conversations with vaccine-hesitant patients and parents and guardians.^{59,60} Evidence-based approaches that promote uptake of vaccines include patient reminders-recalls, standing orders, other systems-based methods, and incentives to patients and families to overcome hesitancy.⁶¹ Health care providers' strong and clear recommendations, as described in the standards for adult immunization practice,¹⁵ for example, are central to promoting vaccine uptake and reducing vaccine hesitancy. Thus, there is a need to emphasize the importance of vaccination and recent advances in vaccinations as an integral component of medical training and continuing education programs.⁶¹

A gradual increase in the proportion of children entering kindergarten with nonmedical exemptions to school vaccination requirements also threatens to undermine the gains made in childhood vaccination rates.^{62,63} These exemptions leave children and their communities more vulnerable to VPDs. The measles outbreaks in 2014–2015 and in 2019 (Table 1), which primarily involved unvaccinated children, prompted policy actions at the state level to limit nonmedical exemptions in school vaccination requirements. Shortly after the 2014–2015 outbreak, California eliminated personal belief exemptions.⁶⁵ Similarly, after the 2019 measles outbreak (see Table 1), which brought the United States close to losing its WHO measles elimination status, the states of Washington, Maine, and New York enacted legislation to remove personal and religious exemptions.⁶⁵ (See Figure 1.) Several other states also tried to remove nonmedical exemptions but were not successful.⁶⁵ Removal of such exemptions is associated with higher coverage rates of the diphtheria, tetanus, and acellular pertussis vaccine (DTaP) and the measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine (MMR) in children.⁶⁴

Table 1. Number of Reported Cases of Measles, 2015-2020, United States

Year	Number of Cases
2015	188
2016	86
2017	120
2018ª	375
2019ª	1,282
2020 ^b	13

^a From October 2018 through July 2019, outbreaks of measles in New York City and New York state accounted for 1,101 (75%) of the 1,459 reported cases in the United States. Most of the cases occurred in children who were not vaccinated against measles.
 ^b Through November 30, 2020.

Source: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.



Figure 1. Exemptions permitted to school and child-care immunization requirements, United States, June 2019. Source: <u>Immunization Action Coalition</u>.

Public health officials and researchers need more evidence and understanding of origins and proponents of vaccine antagonism to develop effective strategies to counter them.⁵⁶ Study of the nuanced drivers of vaccine hesitancy and how they vary by geography, socio-demographics, cultural norms and beliefs, and other characteristics would benefit from input from a wider range of disciplines, such as anthropology, sociology, and behavioral economics.⁶⁵ Development of methods and measures to monitor vaccine hesitancy is also needed.^{66,67,68} With a better understanding of these data, and with a more inclusive engagement of community leaders and organizations, more effective interventions to address hesitancy and its drivers can be developed.⁶⁷

4. ACCESS TO AND USE OF ROUTINELY RECOMMENDED VACCINES

Since the release of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan, access to and use of routinely recommended vaccines have improved, such as influenza vaccination among pregnant women⁶⁹ and HPV vaccination for adolescents (although HPV vaccination rates are still low).^{6,70} In the 2010 National Vaccine Plan and this Vaccine Plan, the terms *routinely used* or *routinely recommended* include vaccines that are used in routine non-outbreak settings, including those that are recommended for general populations and for specific or at-risk populations. Several factors have contributed to improved access to vaccines over the past decade—expanding availability of vaccines in nontraditional settings, addressing financial barriers for patients and providers, and modernizing health information systems to more accurately track vaccine administration and coverage. However, coverage rates for many vaccines remain stagnant, particularly among adults, and disparities by age, socioeconomic status, geography, race and ethnicity persist.⁷¹ Recent data indicate:

- Black and Hispanic adults have lower vaccination rates than white for all recommended adult vaccines, and Asian adults have lower rates than whites for all but three vaccines, hepatitis A, hepatitis B, and influenza;⁷
- Rural adolescents are less likely to receive their first dose of the HPV or meningococcal conjugate vaccines than those living in urban areas;⁷²
- People without health insurance have vaccination rates that are significantly lower than people with health insurance for influenza, shingles, HPV, and other diseases;⁷² and
- Black and Hispanic health care professionals have lower vaccination rates than white health care professionals for influenza, hepatitis B, and Tdap.⁷



BOX 1 A SNAPSHOT OF VACCINATION COVERAGE IN THE UNITED STATES

Young children (age 2 years): Among children born during 2016–2017, greater than 90% have completed the vaccination series for polio, hepatitis B, MMR, and varicella (chickenpox), but only 58% received \geq 2 doses for influenza (most children are recommended to receive three doses of influenza vaccine by age 24 months).⁷³

Adolescents (age 13–17 years): In 2019, 89% of adolescents received a meningococcal vaccine, but only 54% completed HPV vaccination series.⁶

Pregnant women: During the 2019–2020 season, only 40% of pregnant women received both the recommended influenza vaccine and the tetanus, diphtheria, and pertussis (Tdap) vaccine.⁷⁴

Adults (age 18 years or older): During the 2019–2020 season, less than one-half of adults received an influenza vaccine. In 2017, less than one-quarter of adults age 65 years or older received all recommended vaccines for their age.⁷

A growing awareness of the impact of social determinants of health—a complex interplay of factors such as poverty, stigma, housing and food insecurity, discrimination, racism, medical mistrust, violence/trauma, access to care, and education—has reshaped the understanding of disparities in vaccination rates as health inequity arising from underlying systemic barriers. An NVAC subcommittee report on immunization equity is currently in development for consideration by the full NVAC, and if the NVAC votes to adopt it as its recommendations after public deliberation, it may provide further guidance for the federal government's approach to this disparity issue.

The availability of vaccination services in nontraditional settings, such as workplaces, pharmacies, retail locations, and schools, has improved access.⁷⁵ Including vaccination as a part of workplace wellness programs benefits employers and employees.^{76,77} Workplace influenza vaccination can reduce employee absenteeism. Among full-time employees in the United States, nearly 3 days of work is lost per person-episode of influenza-like illness.⁷⁸

Pharmacies are an important setting through which access to vaccines has been greatly expanded.⁷⁹ Pharmacists have delivered vaccination services for more than two decades. Policy changes at the state and federal levels have enabled pharmacists to expand significantly their scope of practice and administer more vaccines to broader age groups. Pharmacists offer vaccinations at times and locations that often are convenient to most people in their communities. Pharmacists who administer vaccines can also link patients to or coordinate with their patient-centered medical home or primary care provider and are critical members of the local health care community. Pharmacists have been key participants in pandemic planning in all states and have a critically important role in COVID-19 vaccination efforts in local communities.

Opportunities exist to identify and address challenges associated with payments for vaccination services.²⁸ Continuing to address financial barriers for patients and providers will accelerate progress in vaccination coverage rates and help reduce disparities by socioeconomic status, race, and ethnicity. Since the release of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan, more than 20 million Americans have gained access to health insurance, which generally covers routinely recommended vaccinations without copayments.^{80,81} However, 27.5 million people, or 8.5% of the population in the United States, including 4.3 million children, did not have health insurance in 2018.⁸²

Vaccines for Children (VFC) is a federal entitlement program that provides free vaccines for children whose families are un- or underinsured, children eligible for Medicaid, and American Indian/Alaskan Native children.⁸³ For adults, the Public Health Service Act Section 317 Immunization Program allows limited discretionary funding for state and local immunization programs to provide vaccines for adults who are un- or underinsured.⁸⁴ However, challenges remain for many children whose access to vaccines may be limited due to other barriers such as a lack of transportation and limited vaccination service locations in their communities.⁷⁵ Much remains to be done to eliminate financial barriers for adults and their health care providers. For example, Medicare Part B does not cover all routinely recommended vaccines for adults age 65 years or older. Under Medicare Part D, individuals who are enrolled in a prescription drug plans are required to cover all commercially available vaccines unless they are covered under Part B.⁷³ Cost-sharing for these vaccines varies based on the Part D plan. For health care providers, Medicaid reimbursement for adult vaccination services may not provide incentives to promote vaccines as a part of their routine patient care.⁸⁵

Health care providers seek up-to-date, accurate, and complete vaccination records for their patients. Routine use of Immunization Information Systems (IIS), also known as vaccine registries, is a proven strategy to improve vaccination coverage rates.⁶³ IIS can be used to remind health care providers to recall patients for vaccinations and compile vaccination data to validate their quality of health care delivery for payment incentive programs. Immunization programs use IIS to monitor vaccination coverage rates and trends and support development of program strategies and priorities. State immunization programs do not have the legal authority to share individual vaccination data across jurisdictions, despite the technological capacity for IIS to do so, which limits the use of IIS. To optimize the use of IIS, improvements in interoperability and data exchange between electronic health records (EHRs) used by health care providers and IIS, interconnecting IIS across jurisdictions, and modernizing legal and policy standards are needed.⁸⁶

5. GLOBAL IMMUNIZATION

The United States supports efforts to vaccinate children and adults around the world.²⁸ Global immunization efforts help protect the United States, given that a person with an infectious virus or disease can travel from

one part of the world to any other part regardless of geopolitical borders, as evidenced by the COVID-19 pandemic. The United States' global immunization activities include providing tailored technical assistance to help countries prepare for new vaccine introduction, conducting research and evaluation, strengthening integrated disease surveillance and responses to VPDs, developing immunization policy, and improving the quality and frequency of media reporting on vaccines. The United States has also focused on global public health capacity-building to support the immunization enterprise and has made significant investments in Gavi, the global public-private vaccine alliance, to improve access to vaccines for children living in low-income countries and assist governments in managing vaccination programs.⁸⁷

Over the past decade, progress has been made toward global vaccination coverage and associated reductions in VPDs. In 2019, the global coverage rate for the diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis vaccine (DTaP) was 85%, which is the highest level ever reported.⁸⁸ In 2018, 142 countries offered pneumococcal conjugate,⁸⁹ 101 countries offered rotavirus,⁹⁰ and 90 countries offered HPV vaccines. Maternal and neonatal tetanus remains endemic in only 12 countries, and two of three strains of wild-type polio have been eradicated through the use of vaccines. In addition, innovative methods to deliver vaccines to difficult-to-reach populations are making an impact, including the use of mobile technologies, drone delivery, needle-free administration, and solar-powered vaccine storage.

However, over the past decade, progress has stalled in other areas because of armed conflicts,⁹¹ political instability, climate change, and other crises. In addition, increasing vaccine hesitancy has become a significant threat to efforts to vaccinate children and adults around the world.^{55,92} Measles outbreaks and circulating vaccine-derived polio virus are proof that sustaining disease eradication and elimination goals requires strong immunization programs and investments in public health infrastructure. In 2019, 13.5 million infants worldwide did not receive any vaccine and more than 1.5 million people died from VPDs.⁹⁰ Conflicts and poverty have severely weakened health systems in many countries such as Venezuela, Syria, and Yemen. The rapid worldwide spread of COVID-19 demonstrated yet again that infectious diseases are not bound by geopolitical boundaries, and the United States has an obligation to be an active participant in and a leader of the global community to ensure its own national health security. Therefore, the need to support global partners to vaccinate children and adults, strengthen immunization systems and infrastructure, overcome barriers to access to vaccines, and promote vaccine confidence is an important goal of the Vaccine Plan.

C. Scope, Approach, and Development of the Vaccine Plan

The Vaccine Plan provides a 5-year roadmap for the coordination of vaccine development and use in the United States. The Vaccines Plan is intended to provide a roadmap for strengthening vaccination infrastructure across public and private sectors, including addressing immunization and health equity, to prevent VPDs across the lifespan and maintain the highest levels of vaccine safety in the United States. The Vaccine Plan does not address the use of therapeutic vaccines, such as vaccines that are used to treat cancer (immunotherapy). It also does not focus on the uniquely accelerated vaccine development process for COVID-19, although it does recognize that lessons learned from the COVID-19 vaccine development will need to be incorporated into future strategies.

The COVID-19 pandemic has been a catalyst for immunization infrastructure improvements and vaccine innovation. The Vaccine Plan seeks to capture and capitalize upon the strides made during the pandemic to ensure that lessons learned and best practices are not lost. Applying these lessons learned will require sustained investment in public health and immunization programs, as well as vaccine research and development. Doing so will ultimately put the United States in a better position to respond to the next public health crisis and further address VPDs.

The Vaccine Plan sets forth an overarching vision and set of interconnected goals and provides specific objectives and recommended strategies to achieve its goals. Implicit in all of its goals is promotion,

coordination and mobilization of vaccine development and use, and associated activities among federal agencies and relevant stakeholders. It also provides specific indicators with which to measure progress and quantitative targets for each indicator. These components—vision, goals, objectives, strategies, indicators, and targets—are all set forth in Section II of the Plan. The methodology for developing the Vaccine Plan, including extensive stakeholder input, is detailed in Appendix A.

The Vaccine Plan focuses on policies, initiatives, and activities related to vaccines that are used routinely to prevent infectious diseases in the United States across the lifespan. Its success relies on the active engagement and participation of public and private stakeholders. Section III discusses implementation of the Vaccine Plan and mechanisms to ensure accountability for its implementation.

II. VACCINES NATIONAL STRATEGIC PLAN

The goals, objectives, strategies, and indicators are cross-cutting, and the order in which they are presented does not indicate any prioritization among them.

A. Vision

The United States will be a place where vaccine-preventable diseases are eliminated through safe and effective vaccination over the lifespan.

B. Goals

In pursuit of this vision, the Vaccines Plan establishes five goals:



1. Foster innovation in vaccine development and related technologies



2. Maintain the highest levels of vaccine safety

- 3. Increase knowledge of and confidence in routinely recommended vaccines
- 4. Increase access to and use of all routinely recommended vaccines
- 5. Protect the health of the nation by supporting global immunization efforts

C. Objectives and Strategies

The Vaccine Plan sets forth objectives for each goal, and strategies for each objective (see Table 2 for definitions). These objectives and strategies are designed to guide federal partners and other stakeholders in achieving the Vaccine Plan's vision and goals. The objectives provide direction for the attainment of each goal. The strategies recommend approaches to achieve the objectives. The objectives and strategies offered in the Vaccine Plan are intertwined and overlapping and may be used to make progress toward more than one goal; many objectives and strategies may fit under more than one goal. However, each one has been placed under the goal in which it most closely aligns. The objectives and associated strategies for each goal of the Vaccine Plan are presented below with a brief introduction.

Vaccine Plan	Federal Implementation Plan
Goals: Broad aspirations that enable a plan's vision to be realized	Action Steps: Specific activities that will be performed to implement the strategies and achieve the goals of the plan
Objectives: Changes, outcomes, and impact a	
plan is trying to achieve	Progress Reports: Reports on progress, successes, and challenges
Strategies: Choices about how best to accomplish objectives	

^a Adapted from the HHS Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation.



GOAL 1: FOSTER INNOVATION IN VACCINE DEVELOPMENT AND RELATED TECHNOLOGIES

The aim of Goal 1 is to promote the development of new vaccines and improvements to existing vaccines. As described in Section I, recent years have seen much progress in the development of many new and improved vaccines and related technologies. Continued focus and investment is needed to sustain and build upon this progress. For example, the need for new vaccines is significant including a universal influenza vaccine, maternal immunizations, and vaccines against vector-borne diseases. Also needed are improvements to existing vaccines to improve their effectiveness, manufacturing speed and capacity, and delivery mechanisms. Challenges throughout the product development pathway can hinder progress and must be addressed to further promote innovation in the development of vaccines and related technologies. In addition, to ensure confidence in these vaccines, the development and approval process must be rigorous and transparent before they are approved and recommended for use.



GOAL 1: FOSTER INNOVATION IN VACCINE DEVELOPMENT AND RELATED TECHNOLOGIES

Objectives

- 1.1 Support the development of innovative, safe, and effective vaccines to prevent infectious diseases of public health significance
- 1.2 Support the development and uptake of technologies to improve vaccine manufacturing, storage, distribution, and delivery mechanisms

The two objectives under this goal complement one another to support modernizing development, manufacturing, storage, distribution, and delivery across the entire vaccine enterprise. The first objective focuses on the development of innovative, safe, and effective vaccines through prioritizing new vaccine targets; reducing market barriers and supporting research that advances vaccine development; and optimizing efficiency in the vaccine development process. The final strategy under this objective is aimed at systematically documenting and applying lessons learned from the rapidly accelerated process for developing COVID-19 vaccines. The second objective addresses the need for technologies to improve vaccine manufacturing, storage, distribution, and delivery mechanisms through public-private partnerships, continued research and development, and dissemination of best practices.

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

Objective 1.1: Support the development of innovative, safe, and effective vaccines to prevent infectious diseases of public health significance

Strategies:

- 1.1.1 Build upon prior efforts to prioritize new vaccine targets of global public health importance to guide research and development efforts.
- 1.1.2 Identify and reduce market barriers to developing new vaccines.
- 1.1.3 Support research that advances vaccine development and enhances vaccine safety and effectiveness.
- 1.1.4 Maximize efficiency in the vaccine development process.
- 1.1.5 Undertake a systematic process to evaluate and apply lessons learned from the development of COVID-19 vaccines and vaccination planning.

Objective 1.2: Support the development and uptake of technologies to improve vaccine manufacturing, storage, distribution, and delivery mechanisms

Strategies:

- Promote public-private partnerships that enable flexible vaccine manufacturing processes and 1.2.1 ensure safe and efficient vaccine storage and distribution for routine and emergency use.
- Encourage research and development of novel vaccine delivery mechanisms to increase safety 1.2.2 and effectiveness.
- 1.2.3 Disseminate best practices in vaccine development and administration.
- 1.2.4 Encourage expansion of the vaccine chain supply capacity, including ancillary resources needed to administer vaccines (e.g., syringes, vials).



GOAL 2: MAINTAIN THE HIGHEST LEVELS OF VACCINE SAFETY

The aim of Goal 2 is to maintain the highest levels of vaccine safety and effectively communicate the strengths of the U.S. vaccine safety system to providers, policymakers, and the public. As noted in the challenges and opportunities section of the Vaccine Plan, VAERS, VSD, and the Sentinel Initiative provide a strong foundation for the vaccine safety monitoring infrastructure in the United States. Prior vaccine safety reviews have shown that serious side effects from vaccines are extremely rare.⁹³ Continued innovation in vaccine technology and safety monitoring systems is necessary to maintain high levels of vaccine safety. Since the publication of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan, additional capabilities have been developed with advanced analytic methods applied to large integrated datasets to rapidly detect vaccine safety signals.



GOAL 2: MAINTAIN THE HIGHEST LEVELS OF VACCINE

Objectives

- 2.1 Minimize preventable vaccine-related adverse events
- 2.2 Improve the timely detection and assessment of vaccine safety signals to inform public health policy and clinical practice
- 2.3 Increase awareness, understanding, and usability of the vaccine safety system for providers, policymakers, and the public

The first objective under Goal 2 seeks to minimize preventable vaccine-related adverse events by better understanding the mechanisms of these adverse events and providing education and training for health care providers on their prevention and treatment. The second objective aims to improve the timely detection and assessment of vaccine safety signals, leveraging data sources that track vaccine administration and adverse events and developing innovative algorithms to detect near real-time safety signals. The third objective aims to improve the transparency of the vaccine safety system to various stakeholders to promote public confidence in vaccines and support implementation of successful immunization programs.

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

Objective 2.1: Minimize preventable vaccine-related adverse events

Strategies:

- 2.1.1 Identify gaps in knowledge and support research on mechanisms of adverse events associated with vaccines and vaccinations.
- 2.1.2 Promote education, training, and expert consultation resources for health care providers on recognizing, managing, and preventing vaccine- and vaccination-related adverse events.

Objective 2.2: Improve the timely detection and assessment of vaccine safety signals to inform public health policy and clinical practice

Strategies:

- 2.2.1 Strengthen integration of systems that track vaccine administration and adverse events associated with vaccines.
- 2.2.2 Develop innovative algorithms to detect safety signals associated with vaccines and vaccination in the vaccine tracking system.
- 2.2.3 Facilitate timely exchange of vaccine safety information between federal, state, tribal, territorial, and local public health authorities and vaccine manufacturers
- 2.2.4 Develop and enhance processes to facilitate and simplify health care provider reporting of adverse events associated with vaccines and vaccinations.

Objective 2.3: Increase awareness, understanding, and usability of the vaccine safety system for providers, policymakers, and the public

Strategies:

- 2.3.1 Develop and disseminate effective messages for policymakers, health care providers, and the public on the systems in place to monitor vaccine safety.
- 2.3.2 Improve access to current vaccine safety data to enable informed clinical decision-making.

GOAL 3: INCREASE KNOWLEDGE OF AND CONFIDENCE IN ROUTINELY RECOMMENDED VACCINES

The aim of Goal 3 is to improve vaccination coverage by increasing knowledge of and confidence in routinely recommended vaccines and vaccines under development. The terms routinely used and routinely recommended refer to vaccines that are used in routine, non-outbreak settings, including those that are recommended for specific portions of the population as well as the general population. The increasing spread of mis- and disinformation and mischaracterization of science and institutions erode confidence and sow

hesitancy in the use of vaccines. Scientists and researchers believe that growing vaccine hesitancy and the related decline in vaccine confidence is a significant public health crisis with potentially devastating impacts.

Ensuring accuracy of vaccine information will require a multifaceted approach. The objectives under Goal 3 and their associated strategies focus on increasing knowledge and confidence among health care providers, policymakers, and the public. The first objective focuses on increasing public support for vaccination by countering mis- and disinformation. This objective promotes using effective communication strategies to increase transparency about the vaccine development and regulatory process, and builds understanding and support for the individual and societal benefits of vaccination through educational awareness. The messages should be plain, and linguistically and culturally appropriate, and use auxiliary aids (e.g., close captioning, sign language).

The second objective focuses on health care providers across the spectrum, including physicians, nurses, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, pharmacists, medical and pharmacy technicians, and allied health care providers. Its aim is to strengthen their capacity to make strong vaccination recommendations and promote vaccine acceptance.



GOAL 3: INCREASE KNOWLEDGE OF AND CONFIDENCE IN ROUTINELY RECOMMENDED VACCINES

Objectives

- 3.1 Counter vaccine mis- and disinformation and increase public support for the individual and societal benefits of vaccination
- 3.2 Increase provider capacity to promote knowledge of the benefits of immunization and increased vaccine acceptance by the public
- 3.3 Ensure key decision- and policymakers receive accurate and timely information on vaccines and strategies to promote vaccine uptake
- 3.4 Reduce disparities and inequities in vaccine confidence and acceptance

The third objective focuses on policy decision-makers who play an important role in promoting vaccination. To be effective, they need accurate and timely information about vaccines and effective strategies to promote vaccine uptake.

The fourth objective recognizes that differences across communities and cultures influence vaccine confidence and acceptance. The objective aims to reduce disparities in immunization rates and promote health equity by developing a better understanding of these differences and by stakeholders working collaboratively to tailor messages and strategies to address the specific issues and concerns in communities. Enhancing the health care workforce to be reflective of populations served may also increase communities' confidence in recommended vaccines.

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES:

Objective 3.1: Counter vaccine mis- and disinformation and increase public support for the individual and societal benefits of vaccination

Strategies:

- 3.1.1 Promote vaccination as a social norm through coordinated traditional and social media campaigns.
- 3.1.2 Strengthen efforts to limit the spread of misleading and/or false information, including on social media, that creates discord and disrupts public trust in vaccines
- 3.1.3 Invest in communication sciences and community engagement to deliver compelling messages on vaccines and vaccinations by trusted messengers in plain language and using auxiliary aids and services.

- 3.1.4 Maintain evidence-based, transparent processes for vaccine development, the regulatory process, distribution, and recommendations for use.
- 3.1.5 Advance research on societal, cultural, behavioral, and other factors that affect confidence in and use of vaccines and develop interventions to address these factors.
- 3.1.6 Work with federal partners and state, tribal, territorial, and local school boards to support development and dissemination of culturally and linguistically appropriate health curricula that foster vaccine knowledge and confidence from an early age.

Objective 3.2: Increase provider capacity to promote knowledge of the benefits of immunization and increased vaccine acceptance by the public

Strategies:

- 3.2.1 Strengthen vaccine curricula in medical, nursing, pharmacy, and allied health education, with an emphasis on immunization across the lifespan.
- 3.2.2 Develop partnerships with health professional organizations, health professional training programs, and licensing and certification boards to strengthen communications and training of health care providers about the importance of vaccines and best practices for vaccine counseling and administration.
- 3.2.3 Scale up implementation of best practices among health care providers to effectively promote vaccine confidence and vaccination uptake.
- 3.2.4 Simplify immunization practice guidelines where possible to make them easier to implement in practice.

Objective 3.3: Ensure key decision- and policymakers receive accurate and timely information on vaccines and strategies to promote vaccine uptake

Strategies:

- 3.3.1 Support development of state, tribal, territorial, and local communities of practice to facilitate implementation of evidence-based strategies to increase vaccine uptake.
- 3.3.2 Educate legislators, executive officers, and policymakers in jurisdictions on policies that increase vaccine use.

Objective 3.4: Reduce disparities and inequities in vaccine confidence and acceptance

Strategies:

- 3.4.1 Reduce barriers to data sharing between public health and the community (e.g., schools) to identify under-vaccinated populations.
- 3.4.2 Support research in local communities to identify causes of vaccine hesitancy and develop and implement targeted interventions to address them.
- 3.4.3 Further develop, implement, and evaluate metrics to better understand vaccine confidence by age, race, ethnicity, disability, geography, education, and socioeconomic status over time.
- 3.4.4 Engage trusted community members and organizations (e.g., faith-based leaders) within targeted communities to develop effective culturally and linguistically appropriate messages and strategies in those communities.
- 3.4.5 Support efforts to strengthen the diversity of the health care workforce to increase vaccine confidence and acceptance across diverse communities.

GOAL 4: INCREASE ACCESS TO AND USE OF ALL ROUTINELY RECOMMENDED VACCINES

This goal is focused on increasing access to and use of all routinely recommended vaccines. Access to vaccines is a complex and multifaceted challenge that is a part of much broader issues with health care access in the United States. Challenges include patient-level barriers to vaccination, as well as the financial and systems barriers that providers face in providing vaccinations. While Goal 1 focuses on developing vaccines and Goal 3 centers on increasing public demand for vaccination, Goal 4 bridges the two. Specifically, this goal aims to ensure that the public can access and afford the vaccines they need and that providers are enabled to administer them.

Achieving this goal requires addressing the social determinants of health, which contribute to disparities in access to routinely recommended vaccines. In addition, expanding the number and types of health care settings, such as obstetrics-gynecology practices, specialty clinics, substance use and mental health treatment facilities, and occupational health clinics, that provide vaccinations can increase opportunities for people to be vaccinated. In addition, expanding community-based points of access to vaccines, such as pharmacies, schools, and community-based organizations, are necessary.

For health care providers to vaccinate their patients, they must invest time and money to stock vaccines, have access to a steady supply of vaccines at reasonable cost, and have an administrative system in place for payments. They also need to access reliable information to determine whether a vaccine is indicated for the patient and be adequately reimbursed for vaccination services including counseling. Payments for vaccination services should be adequate and standardized, and barriers to payment for vaccination services should be addressed.

The first objective under Goal 4 focuses on making vaccines available in a variety of settings and seizing every opportunity

GOAL 4: INCREASE ACCESS TO AND USE OF ALL ROUTINELY RECOMMENDED VACCINES

Objectives

- 4.1 Increase the availability of vaccines in a variety of settings
- 4.2 Reduce disparities and inequities in access to and use of routinely recommended vaccines across the lifespan
- 4.3 Strengthen data infrastructure, including Immunization Information Systems, to track vaccine coverage and conduct surveillance of vaccinepreventable diseases
- 4.4 Reduce financial and systems barriers for health care providers to facilitate delivery of routinely recommended vaccines
- 4.5 Reduce financial and systems barriers for the public to facilitate access to routinely recommended vaccines
- 4.6 Promote public-private partnerships to increase the capacity of the health system to deliver vaccines for routine use during outbreaks

to offer vaccines to those who need them. The second objective emphasizes the need to reduce disparities and inequities in access to and use of routinely recommended vaccines. The third objective highlights the continued need to strengthen data infrastructure to track disparities in vaccination coverage for program improvement. The fourth and fifth objectives aim to reduce financial and systems barriers for providers and patients, respectively. The last objective under Goal 4 calls out the need to promote public-private partnerships to increase the capacity to manufacture vaccines to meet demands created by routine use and, as highlighted by the COVID-19 pandemic, during outbreaks. Such partnerships are critically important in vaccine allocation, distribution, tracking, and accountability.

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

Objective 4.1: Increase the availability of vaccines in a variety of settings

Strategies

- 4.1.1 Remove barriers to and incentivize vaccination in pharmacies, obstetrics-gynecology practices, other specialty health care settings, and non-health care settings such as schools, workplaces, places of worship, and community centers.
- 4.1.2 Scale-up implementation of evidence-based systems-level strategies that increase vaccine uptake (e.g., centralized reminder-recall system, standing orders).
- 4.1.3 Expand the number of Vaccines for Children sites and reduce barriers to provider enrollment.

Objective 4.2: Reduce disparities and inequities in access to and use of routinely recommended vaccines across the lifespan

Strategies

- 4.2.1 Support continued research on racial and ethnic, age, disability, social, economic, cultural, and other factors that contribute to disparities in vaccination rates, and develop targeted interventions to address them.
- 4.2.2 Support state, tribal, territorial, and local health departments' efforts to study local immunization disparities and strengthen their community engagement efforts.
- 4.2.3 Increase use of data by public health departments and health care systems to identify and address disparities in vaccination rates in their jurisdictions and patient populations.
- 4.2.4 Scale up implementation of evidence-based practices to improve immunization equity.

Objective 4.3: Strengthen data infrastructure, including Immunization Information Systems, to track vaccine coverage and conduct surveillance of vaccine-preventable diseases

Strategies

- 4.3.1 Improve Immunization Information System reporting, its interoperability across jurisdictions, and bidirectional communication with other health data systems.
- 4.3.2 Use interoperable health information technology including electronic health records, electronic case reporting, and health information exchange networks to characterize and improve monitoring of vaccine-preventable diseases.
- 4.3.3 Increase data analytics capacity to conduct disease surveillance and increase enrollment of adult health care providers in immunization information systems.
- 4.3.4 Provide additional resources, training, and incentives to improve Immunization Information System reporting by adult vaccination service providers.
- 4.3.5 Increase data sharing and collaboration across public health, health care systems, and payers to better assess and improve vaccine coverage and disparities and increase data analytics capacity.

Objective 4.4: Reduce financial and systems barriers for health care providers to facilitate delivery of routinely recommended vaccines

Strategies

- 4.4.1 Support adequate payments for vaccine counseling and administration.
- 4.4.2 Encourage development and implementation of best business practices to improve vaccination services at the health care provider practice level.

- 4.4.3 Encourage state Medicaid programs to continue implementing evidence-based policies to improve vaccination rates among Medicaid beneficiaries.
- 4.4.4 Promote the use of vaccination as a quality measure in value-based payment models.
- 4.4.5 Remove system barriers to implementation of innovative services such as the use of mobile vans and telehealth and support adequate reimbursement for these services.

Objective 4.5: Reduce financial and systems barriers for the public to facilitate access to routinely recommended vaccines

Strategies

- 4.5.1 Remove co-pays, cost sharing, and other financial barriers for all routinely recommended vaccines.
- 4.5.2 Promote adequate payments for vaccines and vaccinations by public and private health plans to incentivize providers to vaccinate, thereby promoting access.
- 4.5.3 Improve access to free vaccines for uninsured adults.

Objective 4.6: Promote public-private partnerships to increase the capacity of the health system to deliver vaccines for routine use during outbreaks

Strategies

- 4.6.1 Strengthen public-private partnerships to improve vaccine ordering, distribution, and tracking for routine use, outbreak control, and during public health emergencies.
- 4.6.2 Develop and practice strategies to continue to deliver routine vaccinations during public health emergencies.
- 4.6.3 Review and practice plans to expand capacity to conduct mass vaccination during public health emergencies.



GOAL 5: PROTECT THE HEALTH OF THE NATION BY SUPPORTING GLOBAL IMMUNIZATION EFFORTS

Goal 5 aims to protect the health of the nation by supporting global immunization efforts. Although the Vaccine Plan is a national plan, the United States is firmly committed to continued collaboration with and support of partners in global immunization efforts as a critical element of the nation's broader health security agenda. The success of the United States' national vaccine strategy will remain inextricably linked with the success of global immunization activities. The United States has demonstrated long-standing leadership in these activities, including building an effective influenza laboratory surveillance network around the world and assisting other countries to develop surveillance systems; supporting global polio eradication; contributing financial resources to Gavi; leading tuberculosis and malaria vaccine development efforts; deploying a vaccine against Ebola virus disease; and working to develop vaccines to prevent pandemics. Across the U.S. government, funding for and expertise in surveillance, collaborative research, vaccine deployment, understanding and addressing vaccine confidence, advancing regulatory science, and other activities are leveraged every day in support of global immunization.

However, as discussed in Section I, several emerging issues are threatening the global uptake of vaccinations, including conflicts, political instability, population displacement, and the spread of mistrust of science. In a global economy, in which people and information can circle the globe quickly and easily, the United States will most effectively protect the health of its population by supporting global immunization efforts. The first objective in Goal 5 aligns with Goal 1 and expands the focus to global vaccine research and development to

address VPDs. The second objective aligns with Goal 3 and is focused on supporting global partners in their efforts to counter vaccine mis- and disinformation by working with immunization programs in other countries to disseminate evidence-based vaccine information and other strategies. The third objective aligns with Goal 4, seeking to support global partners' efforts to strengthen their immunization systems, including through digital and data tools to conduct vaccination campaigns more efficiently, manage supply chains, and monitor vaccine coverage. The fourth objective calls for improved coordination by U.S. federal agencies and global partners on global vaccine advocacy and to harmonize global regulatory processes where possible.

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

Objective 5.1: Support vaccine research and development to address vaccine-preventable diseases of global public health importance

Strategies:

5.1.1 Support development of technologies that improve vaccine access, distribution, and equity in low-resource countries during a public health emergency.



GOAL 5: PROTECT THE HEALTH OF THE NATION BY SUPPORTING GLOBAL IMMUNIZATION EFFORTS

Objectives

- 5.1 Support vaccine research and development to address vaccinepreventable diseases of global public health importance
- 5.2 Support global partners in efforts to combat vaccine misinformation, disinformation, and hesitancy worldwide
- 5.3 Support global partners to strengthen immunization systems
- 5.4 Increase coordination of global immunization efforts across federal agencies and with global partners
- 5.1.2 Provide technical assistance to developing country vaccine manufacturers to support development and production of safe and effective vaccines.
- 5.1.3 Work with global partners to establish an international system that facilitates rapid response to emerging infections through the development of vaccine reference strains, candidate vaccines, and reagent standards for vaccine evaluation.
- 5.1.4 Support social and economic investments to secure sustainable financing to foster innovation in vaccine development and delivery mechanisms.

Objective 5.2: Support global partners in efforts to combat vaccine misinformation, disinformation, and hesitancy worldwide

Strategies:

- 5.2.1 Work with immunization programs in other countries to disseminate evidence-based information on vaccines through traditional and social media.
- 5.2.2 Identify and address knowledge gaps on societal, cultural, behavioral, and other factors that affect vaccine hesitancy worldwide, especially among populations at risk of under-immunization.

Objective 5.3: Support global partners to strengthen immunization systems

Strategies:

- 5.3.1 Develop tools and technology for real-time global surveillance of vaccine-preventable diseases, adverse events associated with vaccines, and emerging infectious diseases.
- 5.3.2 Leverage digital and data tools to effectively target vaccination campaigns, efficiently manage supply chains, and accurately monitor vaccination coverage.

- 5.3.3 Support countries to maintain a stable vaccine supply through secure and reliable vaccine finance, ordering, and distribution systems.
- 5.3.4 Support global efforts to increase vaccine distribution in underserved populations.
- 5.3.5 Continue to support multilateral organizations focused on eradicating and eliminating endemic and emerging vaccine-preventable diseases.

Objective 5.4: Increase coordination of global immunization efforts across federal agencies and with global partners

Strategies:

- 5.4.1 Improve collaboration with the global regulatory community to enhance regulatory convergence, where feasible.
- 5.4.2 Increase collaboration with global partners on vaccine advocacy including promoting vaccine confidence.
- 5.4.3 Facilitate data sharing to advance how vaccine coverage, safety, and effectiveness are monitored globally.

III. IMPLEMENTATION AND ACCOUNTABILITY

A. Implementation

Achieving the goals of the Vaccine Plan requires the collaboration of federal and nonfederal stakeholders around a shared vision and coordination of activities. Working toward a nation free of VPDs depends on state, tribal, territorial, and local governments; community-based and faith-based organizations; health care providers and their professional organizations; health plans; researchers; vaccine manufacturers; advocacy organizations; and the public working together. Stakeholders are encouraged to use this national plan as a reference to build or update their own plans to promote the use of vaccines and reduce VPDs.

Federal partners will collaborate to develop an implementation plan to support the Vaccine Plan goals, objectives, and strategies. The implementation plan will set forth federal partners' commitments to take action to meet the goals of the Vaccine Plan. A federal implementation working group will convene to coordinate policies, initiatives, and activities across federal agencies and departments; implement lessons learned from epidemiological data and research findings; monitor and report on national progress; and course correct as needed.

B. Accountability Including Indicators to Measure Progress

The Vaccine Plan includes 10 indicators and associated quantitative targets to be maintained or achieved by 2025 (Table 3). These indicators and targets will be used to measure progress and inform future implementation and quality improvement efforts. The selected indicators measure outcomes or progress and have data that are nationally representative and collected on a regular basis. The choice of indicators was intentionally kept simple; the indicators do not identify the use of all routinely recommended vaccines.

The selected indicators reflect the Vaccine Plan's focus on vaccination over the lifespan, with five focused on pediatric populations, four focused on adult populations, and one that covers all populations. Three indicators were chosen due to their significance as indicators of pediatric immunization; they have targets that aim to maintain the high levels of baseline performance. For other indicators, where available, existing targets for the indicators, such as from *Healthy People 2030*, were adopted or were informed by analysis of trends. Five- and 10-year targets that are ambitious but achievable have been identified. Appendix A describes the methodology for choosing indicators and the targets. However, the COVID-19 pandemic may impact progress as disruptions in routinely recommended vaccinations have occurred.

The Vaccine Plan also includes three additional indicators that are developmental. Developmental indicators focus on the need to develop data sources and collect critical data to monitor vaccination rates in the United States. They do not have baseline, 5-year, or 10-year targets because data for them are not currently available. These developmental indicators are aligned with the Healthy People 2030 Immunization and Infectious Disease objectives.⁹⁴ The three developmental indicators recommended to supplement the existing indicators are:

- 1. Percentage of pregnant women who received one dose of Tdap during pregnancy;
- 2. Percentage of IIS that tracks immunizations across the lifespan; and
- 3. Percentage of adults age 19 years or older who receive recommended age-appropriate vaccines.

The Vaccine Plan is dynamic and data driven. The list of indicators could be enhanced by disaggregating data by race, ethnicity, gender, and other demographic characteristics related to immunization equity. In addition, the

Vaccines Plan recognizes the potential impact of immunization quality measures and calls for expansion of such measures.

Table 3. Indicators and Targets for the Vaccine National Strategic Plan 2021-2025

Indicator	Baseline (%) (Year)	2025 Target (%)	2030 Target (%)	Data Sourceª
Pediatric populations				
Percentage of children aged <6 years whose immunization records are in a fully operational, population-based IIS	96 (2019)	> 95	> 95	IISAR
Percentage of children enrolled in kindergarten who received ≥2 doses of MMR	95 (2018–2019)	> 95	> 95	ASAR
Percentage of children who received ≥4 doses of DTaP by their 2nd birthday	80.6 of children born in 2016-2017	85	90	NIS-Child
Percentage of kindergarten population with a nonmedical exemption from school vaccination requirements	2.2 (2018–2019)	2	2	ASAR
Percentage of adolescents aged 13– 17 years who receive recommended doses of HPV vaccine	54 (2019)	80	85	NIS-Teen
Adult populations, including pregna	nt women and older a	dults		
Percentage of adults aged ≥19 years who have one or more immunizations recorded in an IIS	60 (2019)	80	90	IISAR
Percentage of non-institutionalized high-risk adults aged 18–64 years vaccinated against pneumococcal disease	24.3 (2017)	60	70	NHIS
Percentage of non-institutionalized adults aged ≥65 years and older vaccinated against pneumococcal disease	69.0 (2017)	90	95	NHIS
Percentage of pregnant women who received influenza immunization during pregnancy	53.5 (2016–2017)	80	95	NHIS
All populations				
Percentage of persons aged ≥6 months who are vaccinated annually against seasonal influenza	51.8 (2019–2020)	60	70	NHIS

^a ASAR: <u>Annual School Assessment Report</u>; IISAR = Immunization Information Systems Annual Report; NHIS = <u>National Health Interview Survey</u>; NIS-Child = <u>National Immunization Survey-Child</u>; NIS-Teen = <u>National Immunization Survey-Teen</u>

APPENDIX A: PROCESS/METHOLDOLOGY FOR DEVELOPING AND ADOPTING THE VACCINE PLAN

The process for developing the Vaccine Plan included engaging federal leadership, experts, and nonfederal partners to compile subject matter evidence and recommendations to promote vaccines and vaccination including research and development, vaccine safety monitoring, vaccine knowledge and confidence, increased access to and use of routinely recommended vaccines, and global cooperation. These data were then synthesized and developed into the vision, goals, objectives, strategies, indicators, and quantitative targets. The Vaccine Plan aligned its indicators and quantitative targets with *Healthy People 2030* objectives.

Federal Leadership

The federal Interagency Vaccine Working Group (IVWG) was convened to set the vision, goals, objectives, strategies, and indicator measures for the Vaccine Plan. Development of the Vaccine Plan was an iterative process with substantial recommendations from the National Vaccine Advisory Committee (NVAC), stakeholders, and the public as a result of opportunities for public comment. Revisions and the final draft of the Vaccine Plan were approved by the IVWG. The IVWG consisted of senior representatives from four federal departments and nine HHS agencies and offices (see Table A.1 and Appendix C) and met from July 2019 through October 2020.

Development of the Vaccine Plan was facilitated by the Office of Infectious Disease and HIV/AIDS Policy (OIDP), Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Federal Departments	HHS Agencies/Offices
 Department of Defense Department of Health and Human Services Department of Veterans Affairs U.S. Agency for International Development 	 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services U.S. Food and Drug Administration Health Resources and Services Administration Indian Health Service National Institutes of Health Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health

Table A.1. Federal Departments and Agencies Represented in the Interagency Vaccine Working Group

Stakeholder and Public Input

NATIONAL VACCINE ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The NVAC is a federal advisory committee, governed by the Federal Advisory Committee Act, that, pursuant to the Public Health Service Act section 2105 (42 U.S.C. 300aa–5), studies and recommends to the Assistant Secretary for Health, as Director of the National Vaccine Program, ways to encourage the availability of an adequate supply of safe and effective vaccination products in the United States, recommends research priorities and other measures the Assistant Secretary for Health should take to enhance the safety and efficacy of vaccines, advises the Assistant Secretary for Health in the implementation of his responsibilities under the National Vaccine Program and in issuing a plan for implementation, and identifies for the Assistant Secretary for Health the most important areas of government and nongovernment cooperation that should be considered in implementing National Vaccine Program responsibilities. In March 2019, the Assistant Secretary for Health requested that the NVAC develop recommendations to guide the development of the Vaccine Plan. The NVAC submitted its recommendations to the Assistant Secretary for Health in September 2019, and its full report was published in Public Health Reports.⁹⁵ The NVAC's recommendations informed the IVWG in its development of the Vaccine Plan.

OTHER STAKEHOLDER AND PUBLIC INPUT

Stakeholder and public input was gathered through an announcement in the *Federal Register* that solicited comments on the plan to develop a national strategy on vaccination, and individual and small group interviews were conducted with leading experts in vaccine science, program management, policy, and advocacy.

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

OIDP solicited public comments through a Request for Information (RFI) published in the *Federal Register* on September 24, 2019.⁹⁶ The purpose of the RFI was to collect input from stakeholders and the general public on the priorities, goals, and objectives for the Vaccine Plan. During the 30-day comment period, OIDP received 1,334 responses, including submissions from professional, advocacy, and other organizations (listed in Table A.2).

Table A.2. Organizations That Submitted Comments in Response to the September 24, 2019, Request for Information

- American Academy of Family Physicians
- American Academy of Pediatrics
- America's Health Insurance Plans
- Association of Immunization Managers
- American Nurses Association
- Association of State and Territorial Health
 Officials
- Big Cities Health Coalition
- Biotechnology Innovation Organization
- Global Health Technologies Coalition
- GlaxoSmithKline
- The Hepatitis B Foundation

- National Association of Chain Drug Stores
- National Association of City and County Health
 Officials
- National Association of Nutrition and Aging Services Programs
- National Committee for Quality Assurance
- PATH (also known as Program for Appropriate Technology in Health)
- Statewide Parental Advocacy Network and NJ Family Voices
- Trust for America's Health
- Walgreens
- West Virginia Immunization Network

All submitted comments were compiled for analysis using Dedoose 8.2.14 (SocioCultural Research Consultants, LLC, Los Angeles, CA). After excluding comments that were deemed not relevant, such as a copy of the RFI without accompanying comments, the remaining 1,326 comments were sorted to identify patterns and synthesize themes, attributed to one or more goals identified in the Vaccine Plan, and analyzed for consideration.

Of the 1,326 comments, 24 provided input that directly aligned with one or more of the five goal areas of the Vaccine Plan (see Table A.3). The remainder of commenters expressed concerns about vaccines, including a large number with identical or nearly identical content.

2020 Vaccine Plan Proposed Goal	Number of Commenters (organizations or individuals)	
Goal 1: Vaccine Research and Development	8	
Goal 2: Vaccine Safety	4	
Goal 3: Vaccine Knowledge and Confidence	17	
Goal 4: Vaccine Delivery and Access	24	
Goal 5: Global Immunization	7	

Table A.3. Number of Commenters Who Directly Addressed Each of the Five Proposed Goals

Responses to the RFI provided overarching and goal-specific comments. The overarching comments primarily focused on the value of having a strong plan that can serve as a roadmap for all stakeholders and inform allocation of resources. The commenters encouraged OIDP to engage a broad range of stakeholders, including those that are new or currently underutilized, in the development of the Vaccine Plan to promote a wider and more active implementation. A summary of goal-specific input is as follows:

- Goal 1. Vaccine Research and Development: Responses emphasized the complex nature of vaccine development and commercialization as a challenge and asked that the Vaccine Plan address it. The focus was primarily on the unfavorable economics due to the high investment costs and uncertainties of the products in the commercial market.
- **Goal 2. Vaccine Safety:** Responses described a robust vaccine safety monitoring system currently in place and identified a need to inform the public of its strengths.
- **Goal 3. Vaccine Knowledge and Confidence:** Responses identified vaccine hesitancy as a top priority for the Vaccine Plan.
- Goal 4. Vaccine Delivery and Access: Responses highlighted several key challenges to optimizing
 access to and use of recommended vaccines, including variation and fragmentation within the health
 care system, financial barriers for health care providers and patients, challenges with data integration
 and a need for local data, strained public health resources, and the need to expand the use of vaccinerelated quality measures.
- **Goal 5. Global Immunization:** Responses expressed support for the inclusion of a goal focused on global immunization.

STAKEHOLDER INTERVIEWS

OIDP solicited input from leading vaccine experts through individual and small group interviews. Twenty-six semi-structured individual and group interviews were conducted by telephone with 65 experts in October 2019. Their expertise spanned 13 topic areas and perspectives (see Table A.4).

Table A.4. Stakeholder Categories Represented in Individual and Group Interv	views
------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------

Stakeholder Category	Number of Individuals
Professional medical organizations or health care providers	2
Pharmacy organizations or pharmacists	5
Pharmaceutical companies	6
Public health entities	3
Immunization information system or electronic health record vendors	3
Advocacy organizations	8
School and adolescent health-related organizations	2
Occupational health experts	4
Policy organizations	10
Organizations representing historically marginalized populations	2
Global health organizations	5
Academia and researchers	11
Health care services payers (e.g., health insurance plans)	4
Total	65

Interviewers used a semi-structured discussion guide to solicit input. The guide consisted of questions and accompanying probes that were asked of all stakeholder interviewed, as well as questions tailored to particular stakeholder groups. The interviews were recorded and transcribed for analysis. A qualitative descriptive approach was used to sort comments, identify patterns in the comments, and synthesize them into themes.

Feedback received from stakeholders through these interviews largely aligned with responses to the RFI. A summary of goal-specific input is as follows:

Goal 1. Vaccine Research and Development: Stakeholders emphasized that the uncertain return on
investment when developing vaccines is an important barrier or challenge to innovation and research
and development. Several stakeholders described the vaccine development process as very slow and
identified "valleys of death" where vaccines fall out of the development pipeline. There are vaccine
candidates that could be further developed but are not pursued because no business case can be made
from the industry's perspective.

- Goal 2. Vaccine Safety: The dominant theme from stakeholders was that the vaccine safety monitoring system is robust, but it can be further strengthened. Four areas for improvement were highlighted:

 (1) improve communication on the vaccine safety monitoring system to patients;
 (2) invest additional resources and guidance for frontline health care providers;
 (3) leverage new data sources and analysis techniques to improve vaccine safety monitoring; and
 (4) conduct additional research on the safety of powerful adjuvants and recombinant DNA technologies.
- Goal 3. Vaccine Knowledge and Confidence: Stakeholders identified vaccine hesitancy as a top priority for the Vaccine Plan. They identified four challenges related to vaccine hesitancy: (1) growing anti-vaccine sentiment and spread of misinformation; (2) varied reasons for vaccine hesitancy in different communities and populations; (3) complacency and growing hesitancy among some health care providers; and (4) lack of tools and resources for health care providers to address hesitancy.
- Goal 4. Vaccine Delivery and Access: Stakeholders identified several challenges to overcome to improve vaccine delivery and access: (1) variation and fragmentation within the health care system; (2) financial barriers for providers and patients; (3) challenges with data integration and availability of locally relevant data; (4) strained public health resources; and (5) a need to expand uses of vaccinerelated quality measures.
- Goal 5. Global Immunization: Stakeholders identified the following broad themes around global immunization priorities and challenges: (1) challenges with ensuring continued U.S. leadership on global immunization; (2) the need to communicate the value of global immunization efforts for ensuring national health security; (3) the need to combat the spread of misinformation around the globe that fuels vaccine hesitancy and refusals; and (4) challenges within the research and development pipeline, including market pressures and perceived regulatory hurdles.

Through the RFI process and individual and small group interviews, stakeholders suggested approaches to address these challenges. Their recommendations are reflected in the Vaccine Plan's objectives and strategies.

PUBLIC COMMENT ON DRAFT VACCINES NATIONAL STRATEGIC PLAN 2021–2025

OIDP published an RFI in the <u>Federal Register</u> on November 23, 2020, seeking public comment on the draft Vaccines National Strategic Plan: 2021–2025. Comments were received from 19 commenters. These comments were reviewed and analyzed and incorporated into the Vaccine Plan.

Developing Indicators and Quantitative Targets

INDICATORS

The IVWG was tasked to review and approve indicators and quantitative targets for the Vaccine Plan. OIDP compiled a list of existing vaccine-related measures and used the following criteria to select a set of the indicators to recommend to the IVWG. To be considered in the Vaccine Plan, an indicator must:

- · relate to at least one goal in the Vaccine Plan;
- · be consistent with current vaccination science and policy;
- represent measurements of outcomes that, if changed for the positive, would be an indication of better health for the nation;
- have sources of data that are nationally representative, collected routinely, and allows stratification by demographic and other variables; and
- · have a national impact.
A set of 10 indicators was presented to the IVWG for review and approval along with 3 developmental indicators. Developmental indicators in the Vaccine Plan are measures that do not currently have an identified data source but would help measure some high-priority issues. The developmental indicators adopted by the IVWG are also recommended by Healthy People 2030. The IVWG discussed these indicators and developmental indicators and approved them for inclusion in the Vaccine Plan.

INDICATOR TARGETS

Several different approaches were used to develop targets for the indicators, depending on the type of indicator and the source of data for the indicator. Eight of the 10 indicators are taken from either *Healthy People 2030* or *Healthy People 2020*. For those that align with *Healthy People 2030*, the 2030 target was adopted. For indicators adopted from *Healthy People 2020* where the most recent data did not reach the *Healthy People 2020* targets, analyses of trends were used to determine 5- and 10-year targets. For two indicators where a quantitative target has not been previously determined, a review of existing data and expert input were used to establish targets.

APPENDIX B: FEDERAL INTERAGENCY VACCINE WORKING GROUP AND OIDP STAFF

Development and preparation of the Vaccines National Strategic Plan: 2021–2025 was led by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health (OASH) through the Office of Infectious Disease and HIV/AIDS Policy (OIDP).

The federal Interagency Vaccine Working Group served as the Steering Committee guiding development of the Vaccine Plan.

Federal Interagency Vaccine Working Group Members

Chair Tammy Beckham, DVM, PhD (through March 2020) Director and Deputy Assistant Secretary for Infectious Diseases, OIDP

David Kim, MD, MA (beginning May 2020) Director, Division of Vaccines and Immunizations, OIDP

Staff Lead Thomas H. Acciani, PhD Senior Advisor for Immunization Policy, OIDP

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE (DoD)

Col Tonya Sue Rans, MD, FACAAI Chief Immunization Healthcare Division Defense Health Agency

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES (HHS)

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Justin Mills, MD, MPH Medical Officer

Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority (BARDA) Linda Lambert, PhD Director Medical Countermeasures Program Support Services

Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention (CDC) Brooke Barry Associate Director Office of Policy National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases (NCIRD)

Kristin Pope, MEd Deputy Director for Management & Operations, NCIRD Melinda Wharton, MD, MPH Director Immunization Services Division, NCIRD

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) Mary Beth Hance Senior Policy Advisor Division of Quality and Health Outcomes Children and Adults Health Programs Group Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services

Jeffrey A. Kelman, MMSc, MD Chief Medical Officer Center for Medicare

Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Steven Anderson, PhD, MPP Director Office of Biostatistics and Epidemiology Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER)

Maureen Hess, MPH Special Assistant for Communication Office of Vaccines Research and Review CBER

Peter W. Marks, MD, PhD Director CBER

Manette Niu, MD Medical Officer CBER

Gregory Pappas, MD, PhD Associate Director for National Device Surveillance Center for Devices and Radiological Health

Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) Jannette Dupuy, PhD, MS Division Director Quality Division, Office of Quality Improvement Bureau of Primary Health Care

Indian Health Service (IHS) Jillian Doss-Walker, MPH Interim Immunization Program Manager Division of Epidemiology and Disease Prevention Office of Public Health Support

National Institutes of Health (NIH) Emily Erbelding, MD, MPH Director Division of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) Barbara Mulach, PhD Director Office of Scientific Coordination and Program Operations Division of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, NIAID

UNITED STATES AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT (USAID)

Anthony Mounts, MD Senior Advisor for Immunizations Office of Maternal and Child Health and Nutrition Child Health and Immunization Division

Carmen Tull, MPP Deputy Director Office of Maternal and Child Health and Nutrition Child Health and Immunization Division

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS (VA)

Sophia G. Califano, MD, MPH Deputy Chief Consultant for Preventive Medicine National Center for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention (NPC)

Troy Knighton, LPC, EdS, MEd National Seasonal Flu & IDPIO Program Manager, NPC

OIDP Staff Who Contributed to the Vaccine Plan

Thomas Acciani, PhD Ann Aikin, MA Hannah Bablak, BA Tammy Beckham, DVM, PhD Ilka Chavez, MPH Jessica Deerin, MPH Emily Downes, MPH Kara Elam, PhD Kaye Hayes, MPA Carol Jimenez, JD David Kim, MD, MA Judith Steinberg, MD, MPH

Contractors

The RAND Corporation under contract HHSP233201500038I, in particular Laura Faherty, Emily Hoch, and Jeanne Ringel.

Rose Li & Associates under contract HHS75N98020R0026, in particular Nancy Tuvesson, and its subcontractor Blue Door Consulting.

APPENDIX C: ACRONYMS

ACIP	Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices
ASAR	Annual School Assessment Report
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
COVID-19	2019 coronavirus disease
DTaP	diphtheria, tetanus, and acellular pertussis vaccine
EHR	electronic health record
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
HHS	U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HPV	human papillomavirus
IHS	Indian Health Service
IID	Immunization and Infectious Disease
IIS	Immunization Information Systems
IISAR	Immunization Information Systems Annual Report
IVWG	Interagency Vaccine Working Group
MMR	measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine
NAIP	National Adult Immunization Plan
NHIS	National Health Interview Survey
NIS-Child	National Immunization Survery-Child
NIS-Teen	National Immunization Survery-Teen
NVAC	National Vaccine Advisory Committee
NVPO	National Vaccine Program Office
OASH	Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health
OIDP	Office of Infectious Disease and HIV/AIDS Policy
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
STI	sexually transmitted infection
Tdap	tetanus, diphtheria, and acellular pertussis vaccine
VAERS	Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System

VFC	Vaccines for Children

- VPD vaccine-preventable disease
- VSD Vaccine Safety Datalink
- WHO World Health Organization

APPENDIX D: REFERENCES

- ¹ Mellerson J, Maxwell C, Knighton C, et al. <u>Vaccination coverage for selected vaccines and exemption</u> <u>rates among children in kindergarten—United States, 2017-18 school year</u>. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2018;67(40):1115-1122. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6740a3</u>
- ² <u>Healthy People 2020</u>. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/hp2020.htm</u>
- ³ Flu vaccination coverage, United States, 2019–20 influenza season. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/fluvaxview/coverage-1920estimates.htm</u>
- ⁴ Whitney C, Zhou F, Singleton J, et al. <u>Benefits from immunization during the Vaccine for Children Program</u> <u>era—United States, 1994-2013</u>. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2014;63(16):352-355. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6316a4.htm</u>
- ⁵ Human papillomavirus prevalence among females in the United States, overall and by race/ethnicity, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2003–2006 and 2013–2016. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/eis/conference/dpk/Human_Papillomavirus_Prevalence.html</u>
- ⁶ Elam-Evans LD, Yankey D, Singleton JA, et al. <u>National, regional, state, and selected local area vaccination</u> <u>coverage among adolescents aged 13–17 Years—United States, 2019</u>. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2020;69:1109-1116. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6933a1</u>
- ⁷ Vaccination coverage among adults in the United States, National Health Interview Survey, 2017. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers/coverage/adultvaxview/pubs-resources/ NHIS-2017.html</u>
- ⁸ <u>Clinical overview: Shingles (Herpes Zoster)</u>. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/shingles/hcp/ clinical-overview.html</u>
- ⁹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>Surveillance for Viral Hepatitis—United States, 2017</u>; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2019. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/statistics/2017surveillance/index.htm</u>
- ¹⁰ Surveillance and reporting: Pneumococcal disease. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/pneumococcal/surveillance.html</u>
- ¹¹ Peak CM, Stous SS, Healy JM, et al. <u>Homelessness and hepatitis A—San Diego County, 2016-2018</u>. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;71(1):14-21. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz788</u>
- ¹² Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. <u>Safety of Vaccines Used for Routine Immunization in the United</u> <u>States: Executive Summary</u>; 2014. Pub. No. 14-E002-1-EF. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/products/vaccine-safety/research</u>
- ¹³ Lindley M, Kahn K, Bardenheier B, et al. <u>Vital Signs: burden and prevention of influenza and pertussis among pregnant women and infants—United States</u>. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (MMWR)*. 2019;68(40):885-892. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6840e1</u>

- ¹⁴ Kahn K, Black C, Ding H, et al. Influenza and Tdap vaccination coverage among pregnant women—United States. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018;67:1055-1059. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6738a3
- ¹⁵ National Vaccine Advisory Committee. <u>Recommendations from the National Vaccine Advisory committee: Standards for adult immunization practice</u>. *Public Health Rep.* 2014;129(2):115-123. doi:10.1177/003335491412900203
- ¹⁶ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>Adult Immunization Plans</u>; 2019. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/vaccines/national-adult-immunization-plan/index.html</u>
- ¹⁷ Hill H, Elam-Evans L, Yankey D, et al. <u>Vaccination coverage among children aged 19–35 months—United</u> <u>States, 2016</u>. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66:1171-1177. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6643a3</u>
- ¹⁸ Lu P-j, O'Halloran A, Williams WW, et al. <u>Racial and ethnic disparities in vaccination coverage among adult</u> <u>populations in the U.S.</u> *Am J Prev Med.* 2015;49(6 Suppl 4):S412-S425. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.03.005
- ¹⁹ Omer SB, Enger KS, Moulton LH, et al. <u>Geographic clustering of nonmedical exemptions to school</u> <u>immunization requirements and associations with geographic clustering of pertussis</u>. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2008;168(12):1389-1396. doi:10.1093/aje/kwn263
- ²⁰ Community immunity. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2016.
- ²¹ Bramer C, Kimmins L, Swanson R, et al. <u>Decline in child vaccination coverage during the COVID-19</u> <u>pandemic—Michigan Care Improvement Registry, May 2016—May 2020</u>. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69:630-631. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6920e1
- ²² Santoli J, Lindley M, DeSilva M, et al. Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on routine pediatric vaccine ordering and administration—United States, 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69:591-593. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6919e2
- ²³ Vogt T, Zhang F, Banks M, et al. Provision of pediatric immunization services during the COVID-19 pandemic: an assessment of capacity among pediatric immunization providers participating in the Vaccines for Children Program—United States, May 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69:859-863. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6927a2</u>
- ²⁴ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>The 2010 National Vaccine Plan: Protecting the Nation's</u> <u>Health through Immunization</u>; 2010. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/</u> <u>nvpo/vacc_plan/2010-Plan/nationalvaccineplan.pdf</u>
- ²⁵ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *National Vaccine Plan Implementation: Protecting the Nation's Health through Immunization*; 2012.
- ²⁶ U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. *Mid-Course Review of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan*; 2015. https://www.hhs.gov/vaccines/national-vaccine-plan/midcourse/index.html
- ²⁷ Evaluation of the 2010 National Vaccine Plan Mid-course Review: Recommendations from the National Vaccine Advisory Committee: Approved by the National Vaccine Advisory Committee on February 7, 2017. Public Health Rep. 2017;132(4):411-430. doi:10.1177/0033354917714233
- ²⁸ National Vaccine Advisory Committee. <u>A pathway to leadership for adult immunization: recommendations of the National Vaccine Advisory Committee: approved by the National Vaccine Advisory Committee on June 14, 2011</u>. *Public Health Rep.* 2012;127 Suppl 1:1-42. doi:10.1177/00333549121270s101

- ²⁹ Wallis J, Shenton DP, Carlisle RC. <u>Novel approaches for the design, delivery and administration of vaccine technologies</u>. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 2019;196(2):189-204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.13287</u>
- ³⁰ ACIP vaccine recommendations and guidelines. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/acip-recs/index.html</u>
- ³¹ FDA approves vaccine to prevent cholera for travelers. U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2016. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-vaccine-preventcholera-travelers</u>
- ³² <u>First FDA-approved vaccine for the prevention of dengue disease in endemic regions</u>. U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2019. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/</u><u>first-fda-approved-vaccine-prevention-dengue-disease-endemic-regions</u>
- ³³ Ebola preparedness and response. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Accessed January 7, 2021. https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-and-response/mcm-issues/ebola-preparedness-and-response-updates-fda
- ³⁴ U.S. FDA Briefing Document. <u>Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Vaccines Intended to Prevent Group B</u> <u>Streptococcal Disease in Infants</u>. Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee Meeting; 2018. Accessed January 12, 2021. https://www.fda.gov/media/113260/download
- ³⁵ U.S. FDA Briefing Document. <u>Development of Vaccines for Prevention of Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)</u> <u>Disease in RSV- Naïve Infants</u>. Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee Meeting; 2017. Accessed January 12, 2021. <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/105213/download</u>
- ³⁶ Malaria Vaccine Initiative/PATH. <u>Accelerating Malaria Vaccine Development</u>. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.malariavaccine.org/</u>
- ³⁷ White House. <u>Executive Order on Modernizing Influenza Vaccines in the United States to Promote National Security and Public Health</u>; 2019. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-modernizing-influenza-vaccines-united-states-promote-national-security-public-health/</u>
- ³⁸ Plotkin SA, Mahmoud AA, Farrar J. <u>Establishing a global vaccine-development fund</u>. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(4):297-300. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1506820
- ³⁹ Snyder CM, Hoyt K, Gouglas D, et al. <u>Designing pull funding for a COVID-19 vaccine</u>. *Health Affairs*. July 23, 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00646</u>
- ⁴⁰ Leidner AJ, Murthy N, Chesson HW, et al. <u>Cost-effectiveness of adult vaccinations: A systematic review.</u> <u>Vaccine</u>. 2019;37(2):226-234. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.11.056
- ⁴¹ <u>Ensuring vaccine safety</u>. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Accessed January 7, 2020. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/ensuringsafety/index.html</u>
- ⁴² Berkley S. <u>Global vaccine access as the critical intervention to fight infectious disease, antibiotic resistance, and poverty</u>. In: Halabi S, Gostin L, Crowley J, eds. *Global Management of Infectious Disease After Ebola*. Oxford University Press; 2016.

- ⁴³ Maglione M, Gidengil C, Das L, et al. <u>Safety of vaccines used for routine immunization in the United States</u>. *Pediatrics*. 2014 Aug;134(2):325-37. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-1079.
- ⁴⁴ Shimabukuro TT, Nguyen M, Martin D, et al. <u>Safety monitoring in the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting</u> <u>System (VAERS)</u>. Vaccine. 2015;33(36):4398-4405. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.07.035
- ⁴⁵ Ensuring the safety of vaccine-preventable diseases, and vaccine safety: Vaccines in the United States. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2013. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/conversations/ensuring-safe-vaccines.html</u>
- ⁴⁶ McNeil MM, Gee J, Weintraub ES, et al. <u>The Vaccine Safety Datalink: Successes and challenges monitoring</u> vaccine safety. Vaccine. 2014;32(42):5390-5398. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.07.073
- ⁴⁷ Lieu TA, Kulldorff M, Davis RL, et al. <u>Real-time vaccine safety surveillance for the early detection of adverse events</u>. *Med Care*. 2007;45(10 Supl 2):S89-95. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e3180616c0a
- ⁴⁸ Nguyen M, Ball R, Midthun K, et al. <u>The Food and Drug Administration's Post-Licensure Rapid Immunization</u> <u>Safety Monitoring program: Strengthening the federal vaccine safety enterprise</u>. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2012;21 Suppl 1:291-297. doi:10.1002/pds.2323
- ⁴⁹ Gostin LO, Ratzan SC, Bloom BR. <u>Safe vaccinations for a healthy nation: increasing US vaccine coverage through law, science, and communication</u>. *JAMA*. 2019;321(20):1969-1970. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.4270
- ⁵⁰ MacDonald NE. <u>Vaccine hesitancy: Definition, scope and determinants</u>. Vaccine. 2015;33(34):4161-4164. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.036
- ⁵¹ <u>Ten threats to global health in 2019</u>. World Health Organization; 2019. Accessed January 7, 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/spotlight/ten-threats-to-global-health-in-2019
- ⁵² World Health Organization. <u>Report of the SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy</u>; 2014. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.who.int/immunization/sage/meetings/2014/october/1_Report_WORKING_GROUP_vaccine_hesitancy_final.pdf</u>
- ⁵³ Wellcome. <u>Wellcome Global Monitor: How does the world feel about science and health?</u> GALLUP; 2018. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://wellcome.org/sites/default/files/wellcome-global-monitor-2018.pdf</u>
- ⁵⁴ Sabin-Aspen Vaccine Science & Policy Group. <u>Meeting the Challenge of Vaccination Hesitancy</u>. Washington, DC: The Aspen Institute, Sabin Vaccine Institute; 2020. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.sabin.org/updates/resources/meeting-challenge-vaccination-hesitancy</u>
- ⁵⁵ Gilkey MB, Calo WA, Moss JL, et al. <u>Provider communication and HPV vaccination: The impact of</u> <u>recommendation quality</u>. *Vaccine*. 2016;34(9):1187-1192. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.01.023
- ⁵⁶ Lu PJ, Srivastav A, Amaya A, et al. <u>Association of provider recommendation and offer and influenza</u> vaccination among adults aged ≥18 years—United States. Vaccine. 2018;36(6):890-898. doi:10.1016/j. vaccine.2017.12.01
- ⁵⁷ Immunizations: Communicating with Families. American Academy of Pediatrics; 2020. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.aap.org/en-us/advocacy-and-policy/aap-health-initiatives/immunizations/Pages/ Communicating-with-Families.aspx</u>

- ⁵⁸ Provider Resources for Vaccine Conversations with Parents. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2015. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/conversations/index.html</u>
- ⁵⁹ Dybsand LL, Hall KJ, Carson PJ. <u>Immunization attitudes, opinions, and knowledge of healthcare professional students at two Midwestern universities in the United States</u>. *BMC Medical Education*. 2019;19(1):242. doi:10.1186/s12909-019-1678-8
- ⁶⁰ Paterson P, Meurice F, Stanberry LR, et al. <u>Vaccine hesitancy and healthcare providers</u>. *Vaccine*. 2016;34(52):6700-6706. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.10.042
- ⁶¹ Community Preventive Services Task Force. <u>*The Community Guide*</u>; 2020. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.thecommunityguide.org/</u>
- ⁶² Bednarczyk RA, King AR, Lahijani A, et al. <u>Current landscape of nonmedical vaccination exemptions</u> <u>in the United States: Impact of policy changes</u>. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. 2019;18(2):175-190. doi:10.1080/14760584.2019.1562344
- ⁶³ <u>States with religious and philosophical exemptions from school immunization requirements</u>. National Conference of State Legislatures; 2020. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.ncsl.org/research/health/ school-immunization-exemption-state-laws.aspx</u>
- ⁶⁴ Shaw J, Mader EM, Bennett BE, et al. <u>Immunization mandates, vaccination coverage, and exemption rates in the United States</u>. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2018;5(6):ofy130. doi:10.1093/ofid/ofy130
- ⁶⁵ Assessing the State of Vaccine Confidence in the United States: Recommendations from the National Vaccine Advisory Committee: Approved by the National Vaccine Advisory Committee on June 9, 2015 [corrected]. Public Health Rep. 2015 Nov-Dec;130(6):573-595. doi:10.1177/003335491513000606
- ⁶⁶ Jarrett C, Wilson R, O'Leary M, et al. <u>Strategies for addressing vaccine hesitancy—A systematic review</u>. Vaccine. 2015;33(34):4180-4190. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.040
- ⁶⁷ Kempe A, Saville A, Albertin C, et al. <u>Parental hesitancy about routine childhood and influenza vaccinations:</u> <u>A national survey</u>. *Pediatrics*. 2020;146(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3852
- ⁶⁸ Larson HJ, Jarrett C, Schulz WS, et al. <u>Measuring vaccine hesitancy: The development of a survey tool</u>. Vaccine. 2015;33(34):4165-4175. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.037
- ⁶⁹ <u>Maternal Vaccination Coverage</u>. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases; 2017. Accessed January 12, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/ pregnancy/hcp-toolkit/maternal-vaccination-coverage.html</u>
- ⁷⁰ Walker T, Elam-Evans L, Yankey D, et al. <u>National, regional, state, and selected local area vaccination</u> <u>coverage among adolescents aged 13–17 years—United States, 2018</u>. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2019;68:718-723. Accessed January 4, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/68/wr/mm6833a2.htm</u>
- ⁷¹ Tan L. <u>The continuing challenge of adult immunizations: impact of the Affordable Care Act</u>. *Public Policy Aging Rep.* 2012;22(4):20-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ppar/22.4.20</u>
- ⁷² Box 4: Disparities Tables. Vaccination coverage among adults in the United States, National Health Interview Survey, 2017. AdultVaxView. Accessed January 7, 2021. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers/coverage/adultvaxview/pubs-resources/NHIS-2017.html#box4</u>

- ⁷³ Hill HA, Yankey D, Elam-Evans LD, et al. <u>Vaccination coverage by age 24 months among children born in 2016 and 2017—National Immunization Survey-Child, United States, 2017–2019</u>. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2020;69:1505-1511. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6942a1</u>
- ⁷⁴ Razzaghi H, Kahn KE, Black CL, et al. Influenza and Tdap vaccination coverage among pregnant women— United States, April 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69:1391-1397. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/ volumes/69/wr/mm6939a2.htm?s_cid=mm6939a2_w</u>
- ⁷⁵ Prosser LA, O'Brien MA, Molinari NA, et al. <u>Non-traditional settings for influenza vaccination of adults: Costs and cost effectiveness</u>. *Pharmacoeconomics*. 2008;26(2):163-178. doi:10.2165/00019053-200826020-00006
- ⁷⁶ Lee BY, Bailey RR, Wiringa AE, et al. <u>Economics of employer-sponsored workplace vaccination to prevent</u> <u>pandemic and seasonal influenza</u>. *Vaccine*. 2010;28(37):5952-5959. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.07.003
- ⁷⁷ Zimmerman RK, Wiringa AE, Nowalk MP, et al. <u>The comparative value of various employer-sponsored influenza vaccination clinics</u>. *J Occup Environ Med.* 2012;54(9):1107-1117. doi:10.1097/JOM.0b013e3182677d34
- ⁷⁸ Tsai Y, Zhou F, Kim IK. <u>The burden of influenza-like illness in the US workforce</u>. Occupational Medicine (Oxford, England). 2014;64(5):341-347. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqu022
- ⁷⁹ The essential role of community pharmacies in expanding access to vaccines. AJMC Perspectives; July 2018. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.ajmc.com/view/essential-role-community-pharmacies-expanding-access-vaccines</u>
- ⁸⁰ Avery K, Finegold K, Whitman A. <u>Affordable Care Act Has Led to Historic, Widespread Increase in Health</u> <u>Insurance Coverage</u>. Department of Health and Human Services, Offices of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation; 2016. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/pdf-report/affordable-care-act-has-led-historic-widespread-increase-health-insurance-coverage</u>
- ⁸¹ Uberoi N, Finegold K, Gee E. <u>Health Insurance Coverage and the Affordable Care Act, 2010-2016. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation; 2016. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/pdf-report/health-insurance-coverage-and-affordable-care-act-2010-2016</u></u>
- ⁸² U.S. Census Bureau. <u>Current Population Survey Tables for Health Insurance Coverage</u>; 2019. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.census.gov/data/tables/time-series/demo/income-poverty/cps-hi.html</u>
- ⁸³ The Vaccines for Children Program (VFC) Program: At a glance. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2016. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/programs/vfc/about/index.html</u>
- ⁸⁴ Jarris P, Dolen V. <u>Section 317 immunization program: Protecting a national asset</u>. Public Health Rep. 2013;128(2):96-98. doi:10.1177/003335491312800204
- ⁸⁵ Granade CJ, McCord RF, Bhatti AA, et al. <u>State policies on access to vaccination services for low-income</u> <u>adults</u>. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2020;3(4):e203316. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3316
- ⁸⁶ National Vaccine Advisory Committee. <u>NVAC statement of support regarding efforts to better implement</u> <u>IIS-to-IIS data exchange across jurisdictions: Approved by the National Vaccine Advisory Committee on</u> <u>February 10, 2015</u>. *Public Health Rep.* 2015;130(4):332-335. doi:10.1177/003335491513000409

- ⁸⁷ Bristol N, Simoneau M, Bliss K. Enhancing U.S. leadership in a new era of global immunization. GSIS Briefs, September 2019. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/publication/BristolSimoneauBliss_EnhancingUSLeadership_WEB.pdf</u>
- ⁸⁸ Immunization. UNICEF; 2020.
- ⁸⁹ Global Pneumococcal Disease and Vaccine. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2018. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/pneumococcal/global.html</u>
- ⁹⁰ Peck M, Gacic-Dobo M, Diallo M, et al. <u>Global routine vaccination coverage</u>. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2019;68:937-942. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6842a1</u>
- ⁹¹ Immunization and conflict. UNICEF; 2019. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://www.unicef.org/</u> immunization/immunization-and-conflict
- ⁹² Larson HJ, Schulz WS. <u>Reverse global vaccine dissent</u>. Science. 2019;364(6436):105. doi:10.1126/science. aax6172
- ⁹³ Maglione MA, Das L, Raaen L, et al. <u>Safety of vaccines used for routine immunization of U.S. children: A</u> <u>systematic review</u>. *Pediatrics*. 2014 Aug;134(2):325-337. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-1079.
- ⁹⁴ <u>Healthy People 2030: Vaccination</u>. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2020. Accessed January 7, 2021. <u>https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/vaccination</u>
- ⁹⁵ Approved by the National Vaccine Advisory Committee on September 17, 2019. 2020 National Vaccine Plan Development: Recommendations from the National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Public Health Rep. 2020 Mar/Apr;135(2):181-188. doi:10.1177/0033354920904074
- ⁹⁶ Office of Infectious Disease and HIV/AIDS Policy. <u>Request for Information (RFI) from Non-Federal</u> <u>Stakeholders: Developing the 2020 National Vaccine Plan</u>. *Federal Register*. 2019;81(170):84 FR 50050.